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STATE OF WISCONSIN    CIRCUIT COURT     RACINE
COUNTY


 
PATRICK FAGAN
3943 Pinehill Blvd.
Racine, WI  53403,

 
Plaintiff,        
        

vs.         
 
CITY OF RACINE

730 Washington Avenue      Case No.:
Racine, WI  53403,

   
Case Code No.:  30703

REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY     Money Judgment
OF THE CITY OF RACINE
c/o City of Racine
730 Washington Avenue
Racine, WI  53403,

 
 
JAMES SPANGENBERG
3324 Foxwood Dr.
Racine, WI 53405,

 
and

 
MATTHEW SADOWSKI
c/o City of Racine
730 Washington Avenue
Racine, WI  53403,

 
Defendants.

            
 



COMPLAINT


 

The Plaintiff, PATRICK FAGAN d/b/a P & P Products, by and through his attorneys,
Guttormsen & Terry, LLC, by Todd A. Terry, complains against the Defendants and shows to the
Court as follows:

PARTIES
1. That PATRICK FAGAN (hereinafter “FAGAN”) is an adult resident of the State of

Wisconsin residing at 3943 Pinehill Blvd., Racine, WI  53403.
2. That FAGAN is both an individual person together with the sole proprietor of P & P

Products, which had its principal office and business located 615 S. Marquette Street, City of
Racine, Racine County, Wisconsin (the “Subject Property”).  

3. That the Defendant, CITY OF RACINE, (hereinafter the “CITY”) is municipal
corporation incorporated under Wisconsin Statutes as a city pursuant to Wis. Stat. Ch.66.

4. That the Defendant, REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RACINE
(hereinafter “RDA”) is a subdivision of the CITY created and acting under and pursuant to Wis.
Stat. § 66.1333(3).  

5. That the RDA has the power to condemn, as defined within Wis. Stat. §§ 66.1333(3)(f)
and 32.02(11).

6. That JAMES SPANGENBERG (hereinafter “SPANGENBERG”) is an adult resident
of the State of Wisconsin, upon information and belief, residing at 3324 Foxwood Rd., Racine,
WI 53405.  

7. That SPANGENBERG is named in his role as Chairman of the RDA at all times
relevant to the conduct complained of herein.  

8. That MATTHEW SADOWSKI (hereinafter “SADOWSKI”) is, upon information and
belief, an adult resident of the State of Wisconsin with an unknown physical address but is
employed by the CITY.  

9. That SADOWSKI is named in his role as Acting and Interim Director of City
Development for the CITY and as Assistant Executive Director of the RDA at all times relevant
to the conduct complained of herein.

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS
10. That beginning in and around 2008, the CITY and the RDA, formulated plans for the

area encompassing the Subject Property with the 2008 rendition of such plans known as “Back to
the Root Plan.”  

11. That beginning in and around 2012 the CITY and the RDA enlisted the services of
Vandewalle and Associates, Inc. to market and promote the redevelopment of the area

encompassing the Subject Property under the plan known as “Root Works Plan.”  
12. That the Root Works Plan was further organized by Vandewalle and Associates with

an informational brochure printed by the Racine County Economic Development Corporation
13. (“RCEDC”), entitled the Root River Corridor Redevelopment Plan 2012, Racine,

Wisconsin (hereinafter the Root River Corridor Plan).  
14. The Root River Corridor Plan was to benefit the City of Racine in redeveloping the

general area of the Root River from generally N. Memorial Drive, east to State Street, all within
the City of Racine.  

15. The Root River Corridor Plan combined local, State and Federal funding sources,
including grants and a Tax Incremental Financing District within the City of Racine.

16. That beginning in and around late 2013 and early 2014, the CITY and the RDA began
promoting the area encompassing the Subject Property for redevelopment under the Plan known
as “Machinery Row” (hereinafter “Machinery Row”).  

17. That Machinery Row was proposed to be a $65,000,000.00 mixed-use redevelopment
spread over a 20-acre parcel which was proposed to be the CITY’s largest redevelopment project
ever.



18. That, as defined by the Vandewalle brochure the CITY identified the role Machinery
Row played in the Root River Corridor Plan as, “the catalyst for Rootworks is Machinery Row.”

 
19. That the Root River Corridor Plan included plan renderings noting the various

components of the Corridor Plan, encompassing and including Machinery Row.  Further,
attached hereto incorporated herein and made a part hereof as Exhibit “A” are true and correct
copies of plan renderings.  

20. That to accomplish Machinery Row, the RDA agreed to purchase the Subject
Property, among other properties.  

21. That at or about the same time the CITY and RDA authorized a $4.5 million loan to a
private third-party developer to purchase a property as part of Machinery Row.  

22. That in conjunction with the $4.5 million loan, and in furtherance of Machinery Row,
the CITY and RDA also authorized the purchase of the Subject Property.  

23. That Machinery Row was a public project that further utilized a combination of local
funding, State of Wisconsin funding sources and Federal Funding and Grant monies.

24. That the Subject Property was purchased, at least in part, with funds transferred from

an intergovernmental fund.   
25. That FAGAN was a business tenant at the Subject Property from June 2006 through

December 31, 2015.  
26. That FAGAN was a business tenant as defined under Wis. Adm. Code ADM §

92.002(5), Relocation Assistance.    
27. That the Subject Property, given its physical layout, included and was referenced by

two additional addresses, namely; 1001 Water St., Racine, WI (North door) and 1010 Water St.,
Racine WI (East door).

28. That FAGAN, as a business tenant, occupied the Subject Property on annual leases
that were renewed each year.  

29. That FAGAN, during the entire term of his tenancy, ran a millwork, milling and
machining business from the Subject Property.  

30. That the CITY was aware of FAGAN’S tenancy based upon the issuance of various
permits and inspections conducted prior to 2014.  

31. That the RDA purchased the Subject Property on or about December 30, 2015 with
full knowledge that FAGAN was a business tenant at the same.  

32. That SPANGENBERG was the chairman of the RDA when the acquisition of the
Subject Property as authorized, with SPANGENBERG moving the action and voting for the
same.

33. That, upon information and belief, SPANGENBERG was, or should have been aware
that FAGAN was a tenant at the Subject Property when the RDA acquired the same.

34. That the RDA and CITY, via its agents, forced FAGAN to remove from the Subject
Property with his last day of tenancy as December 30, 2015.

35. That at no time prior to June 2017 has the CITY or RDA offered nor processed any
relocation claims or benefits, pursuant to State or Federal law, for FAGAN.  

36. That FAGAN was forced to move, load and transport his business equipment and
materials at his own expense.  



DOA COMPLAINT
37. That on May 2, 2017, FAGAN filed a complaint with the Wisconsin Department of

Administration (“DOA”) alleging that he was entitled to business relocation benefits as a
business tenant displaced for a public project.  

38. That on June 9, 2017, the DOA determined that the Machinery Row project was a
“public project” under Wisconsin Law in that it was “being carried out directly by a public entity,
or an entity receiving public financial assistance, including a grant, loan, or contribution” under
the Wisconsin Administrative Code.  Further attached hereto and incorporated herein and made a
part hereby reference as Exhibit “B” is a true and correct copy of the DOA determination.

RELOCATION PLAN
39. That, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 32.25 and Wis. Adm. Code ADM § 92.26, the RDA was

required to submit a Relocation Plan prior to displacing any tenants.  
40. That, at no time, has the RDA completed a Relocation Plan as mandated.  
41. That despite notice that this was a public project and subject to relocation benefits on

June 9, 2017, the CITY and/or RDA has yet to prepare and/or file a relocation plan.

KNOWLEDGE BY THE CITY AND RDA OF RELOCATION

BENEFITS 
42. That prior to the DOA complaint and determination, the RDA, SPANGENBERG and

SADOWSKI were all aware that the Machinery Row Project was a Public Project, as defined
under Wisconsin law, and the same triggered relocation benefits.  

43. That beginning in April 2014, the RDA directed SADOWSKI to prepare a Relocation
Plan for properties located at 1251, 1281 and 1287 Mound Ave., Racine, Wisconsin (hereinafter
the “Mound Ave. Properties”).

44. That the Mound Ave. Properties were being acquired by the CITY, with the CITY
acting as the RDA’s agent.  

45. That the Mound Ave. Properties were being acquired under the Root River Corridor
Plan.

46. That the Mound Ave. Properties are across the Root River and within 1000 feet from
the Subject Property.  

47. That SADOWSKI prepared a relocation plan for the Mound Ave. Properties
(hereinafter the “Mound Ave. Relocation Plan”).  

48. That the RDA and SPANGENBERG approved the Mound Ave. Relocation Plan on
May 19, 2014.  

49. That the CITY approved the Mound Ave. Relocation Plan on May 20, 2014.  
50. That SADOWSKI, as agent for the CITY and RDA submitted the Mound Ave.

Relocation Plan to the DOA on July 28, 2014.  
51. That SADOWSKI was present and was advising the RDA on December 12, 2014

pertaining to the acquisition of the Subject Property at the RDA meeting where
SPANGENBERG and the RDA voted to acquire the same.  

52. That on December 12, 2014 the RDA, SPANGENBERG and SADOWSKI were
aware that the Subject Property was included within the same public project, Root River
Corridor and Machinery Row, as the Mound Avenue Properties.  

53. That, upon information and belief, in preparing for the action taken on December 12,
2014, the RDA, SPANGENBERG and SADOWSKI had discussions in closed session about the
payment or non-payment of relocation benefits for the Subject Property and FAGAN.

54. That the RDA, SPANGENBERG and SADOWSKI either intentionally or negligently
failed to file a relocation plan for FAGAN and the Subject Property.  

55. That on January 27, 2016 a tenant at 1251 Mound Ave. Racine, Wisconsin, filed a
claim for relocation benefits with the CITY and the same was processed and paid by March 2,
2016 (hereinafter the “Mound Avenue Claims”).

56. That the CITY and RDA recognized and processed relocation payments beginning in
January 2016 yet have failed to process, pay or file a relocation plan for the Subject Property.  



MULTIPLE MOVES
57. That prior to being displaced on December 30, 2015, FAGAN was forced to

disassemble, move and load his workshop/machining shop into several semi-trailers.  
58. That given the non-responsiveness by the RDA in formulating a relocation plan

and/or processing and paying claims, FAGAN has had to move his business equipment and
property several times, and to date, has not been able to unload or re-establish his business.  

59. That FAGAN was forced to move the multiple semi-trailers and large pieces of
equipment from the Subject Property to various locations four separate times, to wit:

a. Move from the Subject Property to 726 Water St., Racine, WI (hereinafter the
“First Move”).

 
b. Move from 726 Water St., Racine, WI to 4200 39th Ave., Kenosha, WI on the

blacktop area of that location (hereinafter the “Second Move”).

 
c. Move from the black top area in (b) to gravel parking area (hereinafter the “Third

Move”).

 
d. Move from gravel parking area in (c) to wooded area north of gravel parking area

(hereinafter the “Fourth Move”).

 
PROCESSING OF CLAIMS

60. That the RDA subsequently hired a relocation company, Terra Ventures, LLC to assist
in any relocation claims.

61. That FAGAN filed three (3) claims with the RDA, via his agent, Terra Ventures LLC
as follows:

a. September 25, 2017 Claim for $42,969.39 (hereinafter “Claim 1”) attached as
Exhibit “C”.

 
b. October 13, 2017 Claim for $609,223.95 (hereinafter “Claim 2”) attached as

Exhibit “D”.

 
c. December 6, 2017 Claim for $7,225.00 (hereinafter “Claim 3”) attached as Exhibit

“E”

 
62. That FAGAN is in the process of obtaining the statements/invoices for the filing of

his claim on the Fourth Move.
63. That despite the determination by the DOA in June 2017, the RDA only first

considered FAGAN’s claims on December 7, 2017.  
64. That the RDA has not yet been paid any relocation benefits to FAGAN.  

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION-WRIT OF MANDAMUS
65. FAGAN hereby realleges, adopts and fully incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-64 as

fully stated above.  
66. That pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 32.25 the CITY and/or the RDA were required to

provide FAGAN with a notice of relocation benefits being available and provide him with a
relocation plan and/or compensation under relocation claims.

67. That despite notice from the DOA, the CITY and RDA have failed to provide the
FAGAN with any relocation plan, relocation benefits or proposed relocation benefits despite
demand for the same.  

68. That the RDA is duly bound by Wis. Stat. Ch. 32 and Wis. Adm. Code ADM Ch. 92
to file a relocation plan as defined thereunder.

69. That the RDA is duly bound by Wis. Stat. Ch. 32 and Wis. Adm. Code ADM Ch. 92



to process relocation claims.  
70. That the duties required of the RDA by Wis. Stat. Ch. 32 and Wis. Adm. Code ADM

Ch. 92 are ministerial acts mandated by Wisconsin law.
71. That since being displaced, FAGAN’s business property has been stored in semi-

trailers and FAGAN has been unable to use the same, move the same or re-establish the same
given the financial demands of the same.  

72. That the delay in processing and receiving relocation benefits has and continues to
cause substantial economic loss to FAGAN and does not allow him to earn an income.

73. That the delay in processing and receiving relocation benefits has and continues to
cause FAGAN to lose clients and customers.  

74. That Wis. Adm. Code ADM § 92.001 requires that displaced persons are “treated
uniformly, fairly and equitably.”  

75. That until such time as the RDA prepares and files a relocation plan and processes all
of FAGAN’S claims and assists FAGAN with relocation, FAGAN is without any adequate
remedy at law.

76. That FAGAN has not been treated in the manner mandated by Wisconsin law.  
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION-MONETARY DAMAGES FOR TEMPORARY MOVES

77. FAGAN hereby realleges, adopts and fully incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-76 as
fully stated above.  

78. That Wis. Stat. § 32 requires payment of the fair amounts to move and relocate
FAGAN’s business and the same has not occurred.  

79. That FAGAN has been forced, based on the inaction, indifference or intentional
disregard of the RDA to move his business property, equipment and machinery over three
different instance as stated above.  

80. That FAGAN is entitled to the full value of Claim 1 for relocation benefits as actual
moving expenses under Wis. Stat. § 32.19(3)(a) and Wis. Adm. Code ADM § 92.01(23), for each
move caused by the RDA’s failure to relocate FAGAN in the sum of $42,969.39, less any
payment made upon this claim by the RDA.  

81. That FAGAN is entitled to the full value of Claim 2 for relocation benefits as actual
moving expenses under Wis. Stat. § 32.19(3)(a) and Wis. Adm. Code ADM § 92.01(23), for each
move caused by the RDA’s failure to relocate FAGAN in the sum of $609,223.95, less any
payment made upon this claim by the RDA.  

82. That FAGAN is entitled to the full value of Claim 3 for relocation benefits as actual
moving expenses under Wis. Stat. § 32.19(3)(a) and Wis. Adm. Code ADM §92.01(23), for each
move caused by the RDA’s failure to relocate FAGAN in the sum of $7,225.00, less any payment
made upon this claim by the RDA.  

83. That FAGAN has not been compensated, either fully or partially, nor has the RDA
taken any action on Claim 3.

84. That FAGAN has not yet filed his Fourth Move claim as he is obtaining the invoices
and statements to do so and does not have an exact cost of the same.

85. That FAGAN will file his Fourth Claim once the documents received in support of
the same are obtained.  

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION-BENEFITS FOR RELOCATION, COMPLETION OF
MOVE and RESTABLISHMENT OF BUSINESS



 
86. FAGAN hereby realleges, adopts and fully incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-85 as

fully stated above.  
87. That FAGAN is and shall be entitled to the actual and reasonable moving expenses, to

be determined by the trier of fact, for his business, as required by Wis. Adm. Code ADM § 92.56
88. That FAGAN is and shall be entitled to the actual and reasonable expenses related to

his search for a replacement property, in an amount to be determined by the trier of fact, for his
business, as required by Wis. Adm. Code ADM § 92.56(3).  

89. That FAGAN is and shall be entitled to his expenses related to his re-establishment of
his business, in an amount to be determined by the trier of fact, as required by Wis. Adm. Code
ADM § 92.67.

90. That FAGAN is and shall be entitled to payment for displacement of his business, in
an amount to be determined by the trier of fact, as required by Wis. Adm. Code ADM § 92.90.
 FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION - VIOLATION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT

TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND
ARTICLE 1 § 1 TO THE WISCONSIN CONSTITUTION

 
91. FAGAN hereby realleges, adopts and fully incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-90 as

fully above.  
92. That pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and

Article 1 § 1 to the Wisconsin Constitution, FAGAN was entitled to equal protection in the
application to him of the constitutions and laws of the United States and the State of Wisconsin.

93. That FAGAN was denied relocation assistance and benefits while other similarly
situated persons were given relocation assistance and benefits by the RDA under the color of law.
As a result, FAGAN has not been equally treated under law.

94. That the RDA, SPANGERNBERG and SADOWSKI, with full knowledge of
FAGAN’s relocation rights, specifically chose to disregard those rights.  

95. That despite providing FAGAN no relocation assistance or benefits, the RDA
provided relocation assistance to others.

96. That the RDA’s conduct constitutes a violation of the equal protection clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1 § 1 to the Wisconsin
Constitution.

97. That FAGAN has suffered, and will continue to suffer, damages as a direct result of
the RDA’s failure to comply with the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution
and Article 1 § 1 to the Wisconsin Constitution.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION - DEPRIVATION OF RIGHTS IN VIOLATION OF 42
U.S.C. § 1983



 
98. FAGAN hereby realleges, adopts and fully incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-97 as

fully stated above.  
99. That under Wis. Stat. Ch. 32 and Wis. Adm. Code ADM Ch. 92, the RDA had a duty

to ensure that persons, companies, and tenants, where property is taken for public projects are
treated fairly, equitably, and consistent with their constitutional rights. Further, under federal law,
Wis. Stat. 32 and Wis. Adm. Code ADM Ch. 92, the RDA had a duty to ensure that displaced
persons will not suffer disproportionate injuries as the result of public projects.

100. That the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, incorporated to the
states through the Fourteenth Amendment, guarantees due process of law.

101. That Article 1 § 1 to the Wisconsin Constitution guarantees equal protection of the
laws.

102. That pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and    
       
Article 1 § 1 to the Wisconsin Constitution, FAGAN was entitled to equal protection in the
application to him of the constitutions and laws of the United States and the State of Wisconsin.
Because, as set forth in this Complaint, FAGAN was denied benefits others received, FAGAN
has not been equally treated.

103. That pursuant to the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution and Article 1 § 13 to the Wisconsin Constitution, FAGAN was entitled to
substantive and procedural due process for his displacement due to government action.

104. That the RDA, acting under color of law, engaged in a series of actions that has
deprived FAGAN of his rights to be treated fairly, equitably, and consistent with their rights
secured by both state and federal law.

105. That the RDA, SPANGENBERG and SADOWSKI acted with full knowledge of
FAGAN’S relocation rights in displacing him yet failed to treat him as a displaced business
tenant.  

106. That FAGAN has suffered, and will continue to suffer, damages as a direct result of
the RDA’s failure to comply with 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

CONSPIRACY TO INTERFERE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS
IN VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3)

 
107. FAGAN hereby realleges, adopts and fully incorporates herein, paragraphs 1-106 as

fully stated above.  
108. That the RDA, SPANGENBERG and SADOWSKI acted in concert for the purpose

of preventing or hindering the constituted authorities of Wisconsin from giving or securing
FAGAN the equal protection of the laws.  Namely, the RDA, SPANGENBERG and
SADOWSKI discussed, planned, and intentionally disregarded FAGAN’s rights under the United
States Constitution, Wisconsin Constitution, Wisconsin statutes, and Wisconsin administrative
code.

109. That FAGAN has suffered, and will continue to suffer, damages as a direct result of
the RDA’s, SPANGENBERG’s and SADOWSKI ‘s conspiracy to interfere with FAGAN’s civil
rights contrary to 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).



DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

FAGAN hereby requests a trial by jury of the issues of fact in this action.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

  WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff requests that the Court grant the following relief:
a. On his First Cause of Action, a mandamus order directing the Defendants to

forthwith produce a relocation plan pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 32.25 together
with acknowledgment of filing of relocation claims.

 
b. On his Second Cause of Action, judgment in the amount of $659,418.34, plus

the Fourth Move Claims, less any payments made by the Defendants.  

 
c. On his Third Cause of Action, judgment in an amount to be determined by the

Trier of Fact.

 
d. On his Fourth Fifth, and Sixth Causes of Action, judgment for all consequential

damages suffered by FAGAN as the result of the Defendants causing the
deprivation of his rights secured by the Wisconsin and U.S. Constitutions and
their respective laws, including 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1985(3), in an amount
to be determined at trial;

 
e. Compensatory and exemplary damages arising from the willful failure to make

payments required under Wis. Stats. § 32.20.

 
f. Full recovery of litigation costs, including actual attorney’s fees.

 
g. Punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

 
h. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem fair, just and equitable.

 
 
Dated this   day of December 2017.

 
  GUTTORMSEN & TERRY, LLC

  Attorneys for the Plaintiff

 
 

By:
_________________________________
                  Todd A. Terry, Attorney at Law
                State Bar Number: 1047175
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